NPS Form 10-900
ws . OMB No. 1024-0018
» Expires 10-31-87

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service For NPS use only
National Register of Historic Places received UCT | 9 1987
inventory—Nomination Form date entered

See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms NOV 2 ﬁ m}%?
Type all entries—complete applicable sections e

4. Name

historic Levi B. Frost House'

and or common | Barnes Tavern

2. Location

street & number 1089 Marion Avenue NA ot for publication

city, town Southington —_vicinityof Marion
- state cT code 09 county Hartford code 003
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
— district —— public . occupied - —. agriculture —— museum
X__building(s) X private ——- unoccupied —— commercial —— park
— structure ____both —— Wwork in progress — educational = private residence
— site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment — religious
___ object ___in process X_ yes: restricted —__ government — sclentific
— being considered —— yes: unrestricted — industrial — transportation
NA —no . = military —___other:
4. Owner of Property
name Joyce 'L. & William P. Yelenak

street & number 1089 Marion Avenue

city, town Southihgton —__vicinityof Marion state CT

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Southington Land Records, Town Clerk, Town Hall

street & number 75 Main Street

city, town Southington : state CT

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

titte See continuation sheet. has this property been determined eligible? ___yes X _no
date —federal ___state __county ___ local

depository for survey records




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one
——excellent . ___ deteriorated ___ unaltered X_ original site
X_ good —ruins X__ altered — _moved  date
— fair —— unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Levi B. Frost 'House 1s a Greek Revival frame. 2-story..3-bay structure
with its gable end facing east toward the street. (Photograph 1) It

is located on Marion Avenue in the southwest corner of the Town of South-
ington, where the neighborhood still retains a semblance of its rural
character. Judd Brook runs eagterly along the southern boundary of the
property. The house, popularly called Barnes Tavern, .is on the

site of a tavern conducted by Asa Barnsl where Comte de Rochambeau

twice was entertained.

The exterior of the house is covered by white clapboards and has narrow
corner boards. Windows are fitted with black blinds. In the front ele-
vation the recessed doorway, in the left bay, is flanked by plain pilas-
ters that support a plain entablature with projecting cyma cornice. (Pho-
tograph 2) The two first-floor front windows, which are placed closer

to one another than to the door, are tall, having nine tiers of four lights
in single fixed sashes. At the second floor are three 1l2-over-12 windows.
The windows have flat surrounds. The gable end is treated as a pediment
with deeply recessed tympanum of clapboards in which there is a rectangu-
lar window. The peripheral glazing bars of the attic window are close

to the frame, creating a pattern of two rows of four horizontal lights
surrounded by a border of sm@ll lights. Two brick chimneys rise from

the roof line, one about onehthlrd of the way back, the second close to

the rear wall.

The south elevation has six 12-over-12 windows on the first floor and six
“on the second, although they are differently spaced. A historic photograph
shows, at the first floor, a door between the first and second windows
from the rear, and, at the second floor, the absence of the second window
from the front. (Photograph 3) On the north elevation, there are five
windows at the first floor and four at the.second. (Photograph 4) ' There
is a l-story ell at the rear, partially covering one of the second-floor
windows while leaving two 12-over-12 windows clear. The rear gable end

is not treated as a pediment and has two small windows. (Photographs

4, 5)

On the interior the front engrance has 5-paneled door and panels under

the side lights, the whole 1q a molded surround. ' (Photograph 6) 1In the
stairway rising against the south wall square pickets support a simple
handrail that terminates in a volute. While the north front room does

not have a fireplace, the room behind the hall does. (See floor plan.)
This flreplace and its chimney were removed at an unknown date by a former
owner and replaced in 1985. LFloor boards in front of the flreplace show
signs of fire damage as does\the beam in the chimney base below. : (Photo-

graph 7) |
‘ | : . .

In the south wall of the third room the surround is still in place  for
the former exterior door. 1Its band molding is different from that of

the front door. (Compare Photographs 6 and 8.) The rear room has a
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wainscotting of horizontal boards, much nicked and gouged, and a well-
worn chestnut floor. The stone hearth of the fireplace is partially
covered at one end by a floor cut on the diagonal for the entrange to the’
kitchen in the ell. (Photograph 9) Since more than a foot of the hearth-
stone is covered, the covering floor with the diagonal cut presumably is
an alteration. At the same time a related alteration may have .

removed a section of the chimney stack that included an oven with front
wall opening; the possible existence of an oven is consistent with the
original length of the hearthstone and the size ©of the chimney base.

On the second floor the plan does not provide a hall, with the conse-

gquence that the circulation pattern is heavy in the central room. There
are no fireplaces on the second floor. At the top of the front stairway
pine floor boards run east-west and the trim has a band molding. In the

central room chestnut floor boards run north-south. (Photograph 10) 1In
the rear room the floor boards, chestnut, again are laid east-west, but
the trim is flat. (Photograph 11) Most doors have four recessed panels

but one has four raised panels and shows the scars from strap hinges. On
the north wall in the second room there is a post visible. In the base-
ment, the walls are fieldstone, apparently all laid at the same time.
There is no vertical joint line to suggest otherwise. There is sign of a
wide former basement entry on the south wall east of the former first-
floor door, and there is an existing door leading to stone steps at the
southwest corner. There is a narrow cellar under the ell, connected to
and part of the main basement. Supporting joists for the ell are tree
trunks with bark intact, indicating that the narrow ell is old.

The attic is one long space over the entire house. Roof framing uses
purlins and diagonal braces. {Photograph 12) The south purlin is one
continuous beam, 50 feet long. The north purlin was the same, but has
been broken and repaired. Shingles originally were wood, then slate,
and now wood again.

In the rear there is a 2-story frame barn, old, with vertical siding
(Photograph 13), which contributes to the historic significance of the
property.

The house was badly damaged by a fire in 1836. 1In careful examination it
has proven to be impossible to determine with assurance what if any exist-
ing fabric pre-dates 1836,

l'Barns was the 18th-centiry spelling. Barnes with an e is first noted
in Southington Land Records of 1825, volume 12, page 72.



8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

—— prehistoric archeology-prehistoric _ community planning ___ landscape architecture religion

——1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic —— conservation — law - science

— 15800-1599 __ agriculture —— economics — literature — sculpture

— 16001699 _ _X_ architecture — education — military —_ social/

—1700-1799 art . engineering — music humanitarian

X _1800-1899 ___ commerce — exploration’settlement ____ philosophy — theater

— 1800- — communications — industry — politics’government  __ transportation
— invention — other (specity)

Specific dates 1836 Builder Architect Unknown

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

Criterion C - Architecture

riterion C - Architecture

The Levi B. Frost House is architecturally significant in Southington be-
cause it embodies the salient characteristics of the Greek Revival style,
including recessed doorway flanked by side lights and pilasters, 3-bay
front elevation, and pedlmented gable in the temple form. It has been
1ittle altered since assuming its present form in 1836.

Architecture

In the Town of Southington there are some 46 Greek Revival-style houses.
While all share the characteristics of being rectangular blocks with low
pitched roofs, like temple roofs, with trakeated doors and windows and
classical trim, they may be roughly divided into three types:-the modest
1s-story structure, the conventional 2-story house with gable end toward
the street in temple form, and the more elaborate 2-story house with pyr-
amidal roof. The Levi B. Frost House is an example of the middle type.

Examples of the first and third types are relatively few in number. 1577
West Street, 1848, is a l%-story house with gable end toward the street
but the gable end is not treated as a pediment. The door is recessed with
side lights in a fashion similar_to that found in the Frost House. There
are corner pillasters and, along the side elevations, rectangular windows

in the frieze to light the low second story.

The more elaborate 2-story house with low pyramidal roof is represented

by several examples. The Samuel Clark House, 67 West Street, 1840, has

a 4-bay front elevation of flush boarding with hipped-roof portico to the
left. The roof overhangs slightly, a feature which,with the hipped framing
of the roof and the square bulk of the house, foreshadows the oncoming
Italianate style. The Captain Samuel S. Woodruff House, 23 01d State

Road, 1840, similar in mass and roof framing but with three bays, has lost
some of its integrity through installation of replacement windows and the
addition of a wide front porch. The Charles Cowles House, 1860, 131 West
Main Street, is perhaps the most elaborate, having Corinthian columns in
its front portico- and tall Ionlc columns in the porch of a recessed w1ng
The Greek Revival-style type that is most common in Southlngton has a 3-bay
front elevation under gable end treated as a pediment, such as the Levi B.
Frost House. One of these structures, the Horace Webster Farmhouse, 577
South End Road, 1837, already is listed on the National Register of His-
toric Places ‘(August 24, 1977). It differs from the Frost House in that
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The nominated property is described at

-Verbal boundasry description and justification _
The land 1s the land that

Southington Land Records, volume 352, page 281.
has gone with the house for decades.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state i NA code NA county NA code A

state NA code NA  county NA code N&

11. Form Prepared By

edited by John Herzan,

nameftitle David F. Ransom/Architectural Historian, National Register Coordinator
organization date March 24, 1987
street & number 33 Sunrise Hill Drive telephone 203 521-2518

city or town West Hartford state CT

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated'significance of this property within the state is:

— national —__state _X_local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89~
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Service.

State Historic Preservation Officer signature P o
titte Director, Connecticut Historical Commission date October 14, 1987
For NPS use only

| hereby certify that this property is included in the Natlonal Reglster
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Rebdomnl Ao e
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it has corner pilasters and, in its tympanum, a semi-elliptical fanlight,
which is a reminder of the outgoing Federal style.

The front elevation of the Frost House is a fine example of its type. The
proportions of the components, the pitch of the roof, and the spacing of
the fenestration all clearly bespeak the Greek Revival. While the house
does not have corner pilasters nor columned portico, it does have a deeply
recessed tympanum and rectangular window with stylistically correct muntin
pattern. The recessed doorway is flanked by the expected plain pilasters
and side lights, under plain frieze and projecting cornice cap. The tall
first-floor windows are an anomaly since each is a single fixed sash. All
the windows appear to be old but probably are replacements because 6-over-6
configuration would be expected in the 1830s, rather than the small panes
of 1l2-over-12.

The interior of the front part of the house also demonstrates the character-
istic Greek Revival plan of a hall in which the stairway rises on the left and
a large front room is on the right. The detailing of the stairway treads,
risers, railing, and handrail all appears to be original.

In the proportions of its ground plan the Frost House 1is not characteris-
tic of the Greek Revival style nor of domestic architecture generally.

It is too long for its width. The circumstance prnbhably is somehow related
to the earlier existence of the house as Barnes' Tavern.The gouged dado and
separate exterior door of the rear room make it a strong candidate to have
been the taproom of a tavern, but the structural relationship in time of
one part of the house to another, or its growth, is not clear. Suffice it
to say that the Levi D. Frost House in the form it assumed after the 183
fire is characteristic of the Greek Revival style and a significant example
of the type in Southington.

Historical Note

Asa Barns operated a tavern in his home on this site. Since he married
Phcbe Adkins in 1765 and, according to local legend, received his tavern
license at about the same time, it may be that he buill the structure,
c. 1765. 1In any event, the tavern made its mark in history by virtue of
visits that occurred in 1781 and 1782.
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While en route from Newport to join General Washington in North Castle, New

York, troops led by Comte de Rochambeau arrived at French Hill, as 1t
1s still known, near Asa Barnes' lavern on June 26, 1781. Rochambeau used

the tavern as his headquarters. The main encampment was across the street

to the north. The stop was recorded in the journal of an officer, who drew
a map (copy attached) of the neighborhood showing the camp, Barnesi Tavern,
and Judd Brook. Rochambeau remained on French Hill until June 30.

On the return journey from Yorktown Rochambeau again used the facilities
of Barnes' Tavern on October 27, 1782.

After the Revolutionary War Asa Barns continued to live in the house

until his death on March 3, 1819. 1lis son and heir, Philo Barns, leaied
the property in August of that year to Micah Rugg and Levi B. Frost,

both of whom were to become famous as pioneers in the development of the
bolt industry, a field in which Southington led the nation. The specific
purpose Rugg and Frost had in mind when leasing the Barns property is

not clear. Whether the tavern was still in operation is not known. Since
the two men in the same year ilso leased land across the street on which

. to erect a dam on Judd Brook,~ the inference is that Eheir intention was

industrial. 1In 1820, Frost, alone, bought the house.

Frost was a blacksmith by trade. His smithy stood south of the brook.
There he specialized in shoeing oxen, but also fabricated hand-forged
products,including bolts. In addition, he conducted a general mercan-
tile business in farmers' supplies. 1In 1839 Rugg,with another partner,
established a shop for the production of bolts in the neighborhood,
further south on Marion Avenue. While in business for himse%f, he se-
cured the first patent for mechanically trimming bolt heads. In 1842
Frost began the manufacture of bolts in a shop gcross the street from
his house, doing business as L. B. Frost & Son. The firm originated
the first lathe for turning bolt heads. 1In 1844 nuts made from old
boiler plates processed cold without heat were added to the line. Its
1855 price list, copy attached, shows the growth in variety of products
manufactured by the Frost shop. The firm continued in businss until early
in the 20th century.

There was a fire in the house in 1836, but the extent of the damage is un-
known . After the fire the house was re-built for Levi B. Frost and assumed
its present Greek Revival-style appearance. Frost died in 1865f but his
family owned the house to 1913. An account of the dedication in 1912 of

a monument erected to Rochambeau on French Hill, after which the principals
fittingly enough were entertained at the Frost_House on the site of

Barnes' Taverxrn, reported that "ghe Fronst /sic/ house still retains the frame-
work of the ancient tavern...." The WPA Census of 01d Buildings form

carries the comment "Front part burned at one time."
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L one evening festivities were held at the tavern, which an officer also
recorded, saying, "We found many Americans and some pretty women in our
camp. The Comte de Charlus gave a big dinner for the prettiest ones, fol-
lowed by a ball that lasted all night.'" See Harold C. Rice, Jr., and Anne
S.K. Brown, eds., The AMmerican Campaigns of Rochambeau’s Army, 1780, 1781,
1782, 1783, c vols. (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1972), 1:248,.

2. Southington Land Records, volume 10, page 563.

3'SLR 10/566.

4'In 1825 Frost bought from Barnes adjoining land with sawmill.
(SLR 12/72) The sawmill with dam was still standing in 1925. (Snapshot
in possession of W. P. Yelenak) The dam further confirms the interest
in controlling the power source on this section of Judd Brook.

®-The nature of the relationship between Frost and Rugg is not clear,
but in any event Rugg started out on his own. His business failed, and
he went to work for Clark Bros. Bolt Co., which is still in business.
The Frost company, then managed by Levi B. Frost's son Ira, bought Rugg's
shop building, causing a family row. See E. S. Todd, Looking Back 100
Years in Southington (Southington, Clark Bros. Bolt Co., nd). Apparently
Levi B. Frost and Rugg came to a disagreement. The front elevation of
Rugg's shop, considered to be the first building constructed in the Uni-
ted States for the manufacture of bolts, is now at the Southington His-
torical Society.

6'One of the buildings of the company remains standing. Masonry
along the brook for the dam also still is in place.

7‘Heman R. Timlow, Sketches of Southington, Conn. (Hartford: Case,

Lockwood & Brainard Co., 1875; reprint ed., Southington: Southington
Historical Society, 1976) p. 563.

8'Minnie E. Wrinn, "Rochambeau Monument," The Southington News,
August 23, 1935, pp. 1, 6.
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BOLT AND NUT INDUSTRY OF AMERICA.

PRICE LIST 0F

GARRIACE, TIRE & SPRING B@@%@@g ;

MARUFACTURED FROM BEST REFINED IRON, BY

L. B. FROST & SONS,

i ‘ (SOUTHINGTON, CONN.) .
Post Office Address, MARION, CT.

1=4 Inch 516 Inch =% Inch 7=16 Inch 1«2 EIneh 1.4 U, 3-8 Anch
Carriage Bolts, (Carriage Bolts, |Carriage Bolts, |Carringe Bolts,Carriage Bolts, Tlro Bnm. Tire nom.
TURNED .HEADS. | TURNED HEADS. | TURNED HEADS. | TURNMO NEANS. | TURNED HEADS. T s bs
THin SZO0pr Y in-STI5HIHE, 1053 I0pr MY in85-20n B2} v 37 1oy S ;gg o s; gg
11 ¢ 2.00 " " 5.5 “ 8.00 |, : -
13 “ 2,06 li “ mm 04 “ 150 14 « 39 :1; W oagy  f5, o Liojab e 260
@ 9l 2 w 245 0} « 360l 600 w oggo e LIS e« 270
24 215 oy 2.8 « 370 |43 625 13 w onos 24 :32 3 » 280
7 759; « 200 i v 260 T 380 [ w g0 P L3 ap e 290
S/304 e 25l 268 [34 e 300 5} 6.7 9'- 075 |3, ' 10 sk« 300
. 2 o 015 33 « 400 6w 700 wiole (34 L85 a3 e alo
sp e 283 |1 o« 4o By 708 g" 1045 o4 140 4 w320
B3 v 200 b0 490 [T % 750 1 #1080 |Tptoge 1o 330
33« 299 15 v 450  [Hd e 796 Hh e ILI5S  |ries Tolia 4« 2o
4 v 3.05 b 470 8" % 8.00 5"« 11.50 per bn e ey
43 ¢ '3.20 “ 490 8y % 8.25 8} » 11856 |3 in8I.88 1000
s « 3.35 sy 500 860 o « 1220 fop ¢ 1.g4 [Do10 In: Bolts
5g ¢ 350 |1 ¢ 530 [og e 875 fog w1288  lob « 200 REGULAR
I8 3.85 74 550 10 * 9.00 10 « 12.90 2% + 2.08 ASBORTMENT,
6§ « 3.80 4 < 3.70 104 9.2 10§ 13.25 3 ¢ 215 }00-2 in.a§245-980
7« 295 |8 ¢ 5.90 117« 1360  [33 « 2.2 PO-240  26-780
74 * 410 9 » 6,10 113+ 13.05 04 % 2.30 fioo-3p L 2'90-2.90
8"« 4.25 sl;; “ 6.30 12« 1430  [33 « 2.38 ’ T
0« 6.60 4« 245 -
Teers 7| einin. )58 In ) WROUGHT CUT NUTS, | WROUGHT AXLE CLIPS,
:SpnngBolL[Spﬂnr'BoltsmngBolt :.‘:m:.':‘. :’:4 bn.lunmﬂar. (Wul-nul--—w-rr-nt:d.p)e' =
UL Joa|
X1 m. 5'25 1} m 8‘! "0 1§ in. §z )()IZ m.é*'iav 5 by T;' by't mch 8‘3 88 V,? OCh[)ls“::: by 5‘ mcb gg
1}« 22513 % 3.9502 ¢ 255021 ¢ wni o goolw g W 6; “« . B0
g1p « 2o0R « S0y e+ sea2h o 37old KO L Rflu g e %74 e s
¥ 13 « 2.3002F ¢ 3.dol2y « 27023 ¢ 3.80 i 850 Discount of osnt
02 v 23524 « d50j2] ¢ 2783 @ 3901 l HE 8.3() ) p N
24 % 247P3 ¢ 3008 v 28304 ¢ 400I; 3 oW gao
24 ¢ 2508 « B03F ¢ 20284 ¢ allf o WL g
» 2§ ¢ 2.8 3« 30083 « 420(; & Yo« s
3 « 2.65 . ‘4 L] 4.301 ) PO 1:50
| Larger Nuto,op to 24 inch diametr, 7.50
PRICE OF COACH SCREWS, PLOW BOLTS,
(SQUARE HEADS, WITHOUT NUTS.) With Round or Bquare Countersunk Heads, and with Right
$-10 Inch 8 inch 118 Tnch T53 Tocn || o Lef Hand Thread, aa may be ordered.
Coach Sorawmldouk Screws. | Coach Benwn.!(}oaoh Serews. l'lod.wu i;‘;":l | Proe l';‘;'l‘“ Pl:;:'l::l“
er 100 prr 1UF per 10| . . .
14 In. 81,70 | 1§ In. 81.50 | 24 In. 82.70 | 2} In. 83.5 iy v T0
i £',;-,5 ISR A B 53 o /1. in. 9300 13 in. 8585 |1y o, §325
2 v 182 « 19234+ 310|3 « a3go [} + 218 Jif « 320 2 « 4.00
‘g ¢ 188(24 v 200!4 w guolap « 4o |li ¢ 238 2 & 335 o w480
o« 1.93|20  208[4j v 350|4 « 4403 ¢ 288 P} e 380 3 % B.OO
of o 2038 « 292¢|af v« 362 |dy ¢ 470 28 ¢ 278 R} @ 375 3p «  BT5
3« 210{8 v 240|5 v B875{8 « poo |24 * 800 |3 “ 400 4 ¢ 650
4 n 255 Discount per cent. Discount per cent.
Machine Bolts, (Witk Suare Heads)) furnished to order, of every[| Elolts for Agricnltural Tools, for Water
tize and léngih, nt the same List Price of Carringe Bolts, Wheels, il tne every purpose for which Bolis are now ueed,
Holts for R. . Cars, of every deseription. will be {uinished on fororable terms,

. Conl‘lﬂntenllnk Heads.—Carrisge Bolts with Contitersank Heade famished to order, 8t prices same as for the reguler kinds of Cor-
)3 tiage 18,

Exura or intermediate Imgcr’- of Balts farnished st proportianal prices.

The foregoing is a revised Price List of Carringe, Tire and Spring Bolrs, emblluhed and agreed to by the diffe-rent mukers, Janvary, 1833

Orders solicited and executed with promptness, on the most reasonable terms.

L. B. FROST & SONS,
MARION, CONN. January, 1855.

Dimnufsctery on the Camal R . ono mile YWeat of Fltchcock’s Statlens

Wilbur,

History of the Bolt and Nut Industry of America
(Cleveland, 1905), p. 346.




